PENNSYLVANIA

PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION

Harrisburg, PA  17105-3265

Public Meeting held November 13, 2003

Commissioners Present:


Terrance J. Fitzpatrick, Chairman


Robert K. Bloom, Vice Chairman


Glen R. Thomas


Kim Pizzingrilli

Wendell F. Holland

	Pamela Lennon and Eva Thompson

                         v.

Columbia Gas of Pennsylvania, Inc.                                              

                          
	                                            C-20029019


OPINION AND ORDER
BEFORE THE COMMISSION: 


Before the Commission for consideration are the Exceptions filed by Pamela Lennon (Complainant)
 to the Initial Decision (I.D.) of Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Larry Gesoff issued July 3, 2003.  Complainant’s Exceptions were dated July 8, 2003, however, service of Complainant’s Exceptions was made upon respondent Columbia Gas of Pennsylvania, Inc. (Columbia) by Secretarial letter dated July 30, 2003.  Columbia did not file Replies to the Exceptions of Complainant.
Background


On November 27, 2002, the Complainant and her mother filed a Formal Complaint against Columbia.  The Complainant makes all calls regarding the gas account at issue in this proceeding, pays all of the household bills for herself and her mother, and has legal power of attorney for her mother.  (See I.D. at 5 citing Tr. at 35-36).  Para​graph 4 of the Complaint which answers the question “What do you want the Public Utility Commission to do about your complaint?” stated, in part, as follows:  

But her only reason budget as requested.  She only has furnace gas, stove which is not used very much.  Because of hazard it could cause by oxygen.  Quit taping & quit being abusive verbally with daughter.  A Apology to me & daughter.


Columbia, in response to the Formal Complaint, filed a Motion for More Specific Pleading on January 9, 2003.  By First Interim Order issued March 5, 2003, ALJ Gesoff directed Complainants to file an amended complaint by March 24, 2003, clearly setting forth the problem they wanted the Commission to resolve.  The Complainant did not file an amended complaint.  (I.D. at 2).  The subject of the Formal Complaint was clarified at the sole hearing held in this proceeding on May 14, 2003.  


The Complainant appeared pro se at the hearing and testified on her own behalf. 
  Columbia was represented by counsel, who presented the testimony of Lawrence J. Nowicki, Manager of Operations and Compliance for Columbia.  Columbia sponsored one exhibit which was admitted into the record.  The record was closed May 27, 2003, and consists of the one exhibit and a 48-page transcription of the notes of testimony.  No Briefs were filed.  (I.D., at 2).  
Discussion


The Initial Decision dismissed the Formal Complaint for failure to satisfy the requisite burden of proof.  (I.D., at 1; 9).  The ALJ made fifteen Findings of Fact and drew three Conclusions of Law.  We, hereby, adopt said Findings of Fact unless either expressly or by necessary implication they are modified or rejected by this Opinion and Order.  


At the hearing in this matter, the Complainant raised three issues for consideration.  First, Complainant alleged that she requested Columbia to place them on a budget plan arrangement three weeks before August 2002, and Columbia failed to comply with that request until November 18, 2002.  (See Finding of Fact No. 2; 9).  The Complainant had a budget bill arrangement with Columbia at their previous residence and moved into their current residence at 508 Euclid Avenue, Canonsburg, PA 15317, in August 2002.  (Finding of Fact No. 1; 8).



Second, the Complainant alleged that Columbia’s employees were verbally abusive to her and her mother.  (Finding of Fact No. 4).  Finally, the Complainant asserted that she called Columbia in November 2002, questioning a bill and was told that she would get a ten percent discount, which discount was not received.  (I.D. at 7).  


We also note that at the May 14, 2003 hearing, the Complainant made reference to the fact that she was suing her former employer for discrimination pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, 104 Stat. 328, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq. (ADA).  


Regarding the first issue raised by the Complainant, that she be placed on a budget bill arrangement, the ALJ concluded that her arguments were without merit and found Columbia’s reply to the claim to be persuasive.  The ALJ stated, in pertinent part, as follows:  
Ms. Lennon’s testimony about her calls is not specific so it does not support the allegations she has made.  On the other hand, Columbia’s evidence on this point is specific, sub​stantial and persuasive.  I conclude that Columbia did not render unreasonable service regarding the date upon which it applied budget billing to Complainants’ account. 

(I.D., pp. 5-6).  



Any Exception or argument that we do not specifically address herein has been duly considered and will be denied without further discussion.  The Commission is not required to consider expressly or at great length each and every contention raised by a party.  Univ. of Pa. v. Pa. PUC, 485 A.2d 1217 (Pa. Cmmw. 1984).  



The Complainant, who is proceeding, pro se, filed Exceptions.  The Com​plainants Exceptions, are hand-written on five and one-half pages of lined paper and raise several allegations concerning their treatment by Columbia.  Initially, the Complainant contends that she and her mother have been discriminated against based on the alleged disability of her mother.  In connection with this allegation, the Complainant references the ADA.  


The claims of discrimination by an entity subject to the jurisdiction of the Public Utility Code (Code), 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 101-3316, arising from rights granted by the ADA were presented for the first time in Exceptions.  Because there is not a sufficient factual basis to address whether Complainants’ allegations regarding the ADA have any applicability to these proceedings, we conclude that such matters are not properly before us and we shall not consider those claims pertaining to violations of the ADA.  We note that during the hearing, the Complainant stated that she mailed some materials to an unidentified Public Utility Commission office regarding the ADA issue.  (See Tr. at 39; 44-45.
  However, at the time of the hearing, this information was not before the ALJ and was not, therefore, considered for entry in the record.  (Tr. at 38-39).  


Accordingly, the Complainants Exception regarding the ADA is denied.  



In Exceptions, the Complainant restates her claim that she was verbally abused by employees of Columbia.  Complainant states that she “. . . spoke to numerous customer service representatives at Columbia Gas office they [sic] told me at time [sic] from Sept. 2002 to present a supervisor would call me back to this date they [sic] supervisors have never made an attempt to call me back .”  Complainant further states in her Exceptions that she has voice mail and “Caller ID” and that there has been no call from Columbia.  This Exception bears on the issue regarding the Complainant’s attempts to retain a budget bill arrangement upon moving from a prior residence served by Columbia to their present Euclid Street address. 


On consideration of the record in this proceeding, we shall reject the ALJ’s conclusion on the issue of whether the Complainants met her burden of proving Columbia provided unreasonable service by failing to place the Complainant on a budget plan when such an arrangement was requested.  (66 Pa. C.S. § 1501).  We disagree with the ALJ and conclude that the Complainant has shown by a preponderance of the evidence that Columbia was provided notice of the Complainants’ change of address.  The Complainant has also demonstrated, by a preponderance of the evidence, that she provided notice to Columbia to discontinue service at the former address and her intent to establish service with Columbia at the subsequent, Euclid Street address.  Columbia has admitted that the Complainant provided the utility appropriate notice of discontinuance of service at the prior address.  (Tr. at 15-16).  Also, the notice provided by the Complainant is consistent with the Commission’s Regulations:

§ 56.16. Transfer of accounts.
(a)  A ratepayer who is about to vacate premises supplied with utility service or who wishes to have service dis​continued shall give at least 7 days notice to the utility and a nonratepayer occupant, specifying the date on which it is desired that service be discontinued. In the absence of a notice, the ratepayer shall be responsible for services rendered. 

(b)  In the event of discontinuance or termination of service at a residence or dwelling in accordance with this chapter, a utility may transfer an unpaid balance to a new residential service account of the same ratepayer. 

(c)  If a termination notice has been issued in accordance with §  56.91 (relating to general notice provisions) and sub​sequent to the mailing or delivery of a notice, a ratepayer requests a transfer of service to a new location, the termination process as set forth in § § 56.91—56.99 may continue at the new location. 

      (1)  In the event that notifications set forth under § 56.91 and § 56.95 (relating to deferred termination when no prior contact) have been rendered and service has not been terminated due to a denial of access to the premises, the utility may deny service at a new location when a service transfer is requested. 

      (2)  Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the right of a ratepayer to dispute a bill within the meaning of § §  56.141—56.143. 

(d)  In the event of a termination of service to a residential ratepayer, a utility may transfer to the account of a third-party guarantor any portion of the unpaid balance which is equivalent to the cash deposit requirement of the ratepayer.  
(52 Pa. Code § 56.16).  


At this point, the pertinent question becomes whether the notice provided by the Complainant to Columbia, concerning the discontinuation of service at the prior address and initiation of service at the new address, also included a request to retain a budget arrangement at the new address.  Contrary to the conclusion reached by the ALJ, our review of the transcript leads us to conclude that the Complainant’s testimony is more persuasive on this issue than Columbia’s.



The Columbia witness, Lawrence Nowicki, testified that based on a review of the company’s records, he found nothing to indicate that at the time the request to have service at 508 Euclid was made, that there was, at the same time, a request made that budget billing be established for the new address.  (Tr. at 16).  This witness further testified that when a customer changes an address and has service established at a new address, budget billing does not automatically transfer over from the old account.  (Id.).  



However, Columbia’s witness also testified that when a budget payment plan is established for individual customers, Columbia does not issue a written agreement for those budget payment plans:

BY ATTORNEY:  
Q.
Mr. Nowicki, does the Company [Columbia], when it establishes budget payment plans for individual customers, do they issue written agreements for those budget payment plans?

A.
No.

Q.
All right.  
(Tr. at 22; Finding of Fact No. 15).  


Thus, Columbia provides no written agreement to the customer, who is on a budget payment arrangement, that the customer may maintain for his/her records.  The Columbia witness further testified that on November 18, 2002, a budget arrangement was established for the Complainant’s account based on a call from the Complainant.  (Tr. at 16).  The Columbia witness also testified that when a budget arrangement is established for a new, i.e. different address or account, it is based on prior consumption.  In response to questions from counsel, the witness indicated that the Complainant’s budget payment amount, which was established in November of 2002, was $58 -- the same budget amount the Complainant testified to as being in existence at their former residence.  


Based on the foregoing, Columbia’s reference to having no record of the Complainant’s request to maintain budget billing status for their new address is somewhat misleading.  The Complainant testified that she requested a written agreement from Columbia relative to a budget payment arrangement and this request was refused.  (Tr. at 8).
  Consequently, at such time as the Complainant contacted Columbia regarding a transfer of service, we find it more credible that the Complainant would have raised the issue of a budget billing arrangement with the utility as to do so would have been in her best interest.  The Complainant testified, unequivocally, that she contacted the utility via telephone and requested continuation of the budget payment arrangement.  (I.D. at 6; Tr. at 12; 24).  


Our review of the record indicates that budget billing was consistent with the Complainant’s prior payment history on the account.  Also, a budget payment arrangement for the account is apparent from a review of the payment history of the account maintained by the utility (Columbia Exh. 1) and is consistent with the Commission’s Regulations which provide a utility the right to transfer over prior balances to new accounts for the same customer:  
(b)  In the event of discontinuance or termination of service at a residence or dwelling in accordance with this chapter, a 
utility may transfer an unpaid balance to a new residential service account of the same ratepayer.  
(52 Pa. Code § 56.16(b)).



We additionally find that the Complainant’s testimony exhibited a detailed and accurate maintenance of personal records relating to payments made to Columbia.  The accuracy and veracity of the Complainant’s testimony was corroborated by Columbia’s records regarding the accounts at issue in this case.  (Tr. at 28).  The Complainant, who maintains power of attorney for her mother, testified that she “keeps records of everything.”  (Tr. at 35-37; 37).  


Burden of proof means a duty to establish a fact by a preponderance of the evidence, or evidence more convincing, by even the smallest degree, than the evidence presented by the other party.  (I.D., p. 5, citing Se-Ling Hosiery v. Margulies, 70 A.2d 854 (Pa. 1950) (emphasis ours).   On review of the record evidence, we find that the Complainants did make known to Columbia’s employees or customer representatives, through telephone contact, their desire to transfer accounts and initiate a budget arrangement at Complainants’ new address.  We shall grant the Complainant’s Exception and sustain the Formal Complaint on this issue.



In the second issue raised, the Complainant alleges that Columbia offered her a ten percent discount on a particular bill.  Columbia admitted to some form of discount if a customer were adamant regarding a lower bill amount.  However, on review of the transcript, we find the testimony inconclusive on this issue and find that the Complainant has not met their burden of proof as required by Section 332(a) of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 332(a).  See I.D. at 7; Tr. at 29.  The Exception on this issue is denied.


The last issue pertains to the Complainant’s allegations that certain of  Columbia’s employees were verbally abusive.  (Tr. at 39; I.D. at 7).  The ALJ found that without more specific information, such as dates and the names of the individuals with whom Complainants spoke, the record did not support a conclusion that Columbia’s representatives treated Complainants in an abusive manner.  (Id.).  


On review of the Complainant’s Exceptions, we note that the Complainant vigorously reiterates the claims of verbal abuse.  However, the Exceptions provide no specific information concerning the dates, times, or identity of Columbia representatives alleged to have engaged in this treatment.  On review of the record, we shall adopt the Initial Decision with regard to this issue.


Our review of the record evidence leads us to conclude that Columbia’s unreasonable service to the Complainants in violation of Section 1501 of the Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501, and warrants the imposition of a civil penalty.  Section 3301(a) and (b) of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 3301(a) and (b), authorizes the Commission to impose a maximum civil penalty of $1,000.00 per day for violations of the statute, regulations and orders.  Nevertheless, the Commission has adopted certain standards that must be applied when imposing a civil penalty for violations of Commission directives and regulations.  See Joseph A. Rosi v. Bell Atlantic- Pa., Inc. and Sprint Communica​tions Company, Docket No. C‑00992409 (Order entered February 10, 2000) (Rosi).  
The Commission has determined that the Rosi factors are generic in nature and are applicable in determining the amount of a civil penalty for all violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission Regulations.  See Pa. P.U.C. v. NCIC Operator Services, M-00001440 (Order entered December 21, 2000).  Therefore, the Rosi standards must be used in all cases when determining the appropriate amount of a civil penalty for all types of violations for all categories of public utilities.  (Id.).  

The standards for developing a civil penalty that are set forth in Rosi are as follows:  

1.
Whether the violation was intentional or negligent.  If the violation is intentional, the Commission should start with the presumption that the penalty will be in the range of $500.00 to $1,000.00 per day.  If the violation is negligent, the Commission should start with the presumption that the penalty will be in the range of zero dollars to $500.00 per day.  The precise penalty amount per day will be arrived at by applying the following additional standards, while recognizing that the Commission retains broad discretion in determining a total civil penalty amount that is reasonable on an individual case basis.

2.
Whether the regulated entity promptly and voluntarily took steps to return the customer to the appropriate carrier and credited the customer's account.

3.
Whether the regulated entity initiated procedures to prevent future slamming.

4.
The number of customers affected and the duration of the violation.

5.
Whether the penalty arises from a settlement or a litigated proceeding.

6.
The compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation.

7.
Whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission.  

8.
The amount necessary to deter future violations.

9.
Past Commission decisions in similar situations.

10.
Other relevant factors.

The first standard raises the question as to whether Columbia’s failure to place the Complainant on a budget billing arrangement when requested in August 2002, was intentional or negligent.  The record indicates that Columbia’s actions were not intentional.  


The second standard, whether prompt and voluntary action was taken by the utility, militates in favor of Columbia.  The Complainant was placed on budget billing in November 2002, albeit some three months after requested to do so.  In connection with this factor under Rosi, we note that the ALJ concluded that the Complainants suffered no harm by the delay in being placed on a budget payment arrangement, as her actual payments were lower than the budget payment amounts:

Even if Ms. Lennon did call in August and request budget billing, Columbia’s failure to comply until November was not harmful.  This is because Complainant’s payments of the first two bills at the Euclid Avenue address, a calculated bill (for $11.76) and a bill (for $28.38) based on a meter reading, were less than the budget payments ($58.00) would have been.  
(I.D., p. 6).



We disagree with the ALJ’s conclusion on the question of whether the Complainant suffered harm as a result of the delay (August to November) in being placed on a budget payment arrangement.  The purpose of budget payment, as explained by Columbia’s witness, is to equally spread payments over a twelve-month period such that the customer’s obligations to the utility are levelized.  (Tr. at 16-17).  When a budget payment begins in August, a non-heating month, the customer would gain a “surplus” during these months for use in the colder, heating months:

[Mr. Nowicki]

A.
If you start out in August, normally you’re gaining, let’s say, a surplus during the warmer months, and then, you know, during the colder months, it, you know, offsets, that credit.  
(Tr. at 18).

The next Rosi standard, regarding the utility’s future actions, indicates that Columbia does not provide the customer with a written agreement pertaining to budget billing.


The fourth standard, concerning the number of customers affected and the duration of the violation, mitigates in favor of Columbia.  The record pertains to one customer (notwithstanding Columbia’s position that it does not provide any written agreement to customers on budget billing arrangement) and the duration was for three months.   



The fifth Rosi standard, whether the penalty arises from a settlement or a litigated proceeding, is that the penalty arises from a litigated matter.


We have no information in this record concerning the compliance history of Columbia relative to the violation which is the subject of this Complaint.  The record shows that Columbia has cooperated with the Commission.  The amount necessary to deter future violations (the eighth Rosi standard) would appear to be modest.  The ninth Rosi standard, past Commission decisions in similar situations, would also suggest a modest civil penalty.



Accordingly, based upon our review of the specific Rosi factors, including other relevant factors in this case, we will assess a civil penalty in the amount of  $250 against Columbia for violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501.  

Conclusion


Based on the foregoing, the Exceptions of the Complainant are denied except that the Formal Complaint is sustained only with regard to the allegation that Columbia provided unreasonable service by failing to place the Complainant on budget billing as of August, 2002; THEREFORE, 



IT IS ORDERED:  


1.
That the Exceptions of Pamela Lennon and Eva Thompson are granted in part, and denied, in part.  


2.
That the Initial Decision of Administrative Law Judge Larry Gesoff is reversed, in part.  



3.
That the Formal Complaint of Pamela Lennon and Eva Thompson against Columbia Gas of Pennsylvania, Inc. at Docket No.C-20029019 is sustained solely to the extent that it is consistent with this Opinion and Order.  


4.
That Columbia Gas of Pennsylvania, Inc. shall remit a civil penalty in the amount of two-hundred and fifty dollars ($250.00) to the Commission for a  violation of Section 1501 of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa. C.S. § 1501.  Said civil penalty shall be paid within thirty (30) days of the entry of this Opinion and Order and directed to:



James J. McNulty, Secretary




Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission




Keystone Building




Harrisburg, Pennsylvania 17105



5.
That this proceeding shall be marked closed.








BY THE COMMISSION,







James J. McNulty 








Secretary 

(SEAL) 

ORDER ADOPTED:  November 13, 2003

ORDER ENTERED:  November 14, 2003
	�	The Complaint was filed by Pamela Lennon and her mother Eva Thompson who is 81 years of age and physically infirm.  (Tr. at 8, 32-33).  


	�	Eva Thompson did not testify at the hearing.   


	�	There is also no need to address the jurisdictional implication of issues regarding Complainants’ ADA claims. 


	�	The failure to be placed on budget billing is, itself, a disputable matter.  52 Pa. Code § 56.151. 


	�	Complainants are current in all payments to Columbia.  (I.D. at 8).  
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